
https://meet.goto.com/245724141
tel:+18722403212,,245724141
mailto:tgrant@sjwd.org
mailto:tgrant@sjwd.org


(W) – Wholesale Page 2 of 4 SJWD Board of Directors 
(R) – Retail Meeting Agenda 

September 17, 2025 

I. ROLL CALL

II. PUBLIC FORUM AND COMMENTS
This is the opportunity for members of the public to comment on any item(s) that do not appear on the agenda.
During the Public Forum, the Board may ask District staff for clarification, refer the matter to District staff or
ask District staff to report back at a future meeting.  The Board will not take action on any matter raised during
the Public Forum, unless the Board first makes the determination to add the matter to the agenda.

III. CONSENT CALENDAR
All items under the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine and will be approved by one motion.  There
will be no separate discussion of these items unless a member of the Board, Audience, or Staff request a
specific item removed before the motion to approve the Consent Calendar.

1. Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting, August 14, 2025 (W & R)
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes

2. Minutes of the Board of Directors Special Meeting, August 22, 2025 (W & R)
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes

IV. DISCUSSION AND ACTION ITEMS

1. Board of Directors Division 1 Vacancy (W & R)
Action: Consider a motion to appoint new Board member; if a motion is

made and approved, administer the oath to the new appointee 

2. Amendment to Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting, June 12, 2025 (W & R)
Action: Consider a motion to amend the June 12, 2025, Board of Directors

meeting minutes to reflect a change on page 9 under agenda item 
VI-1 pertaining to Director Tobin’s motion related to retail rates

3. Water Services Replacement Project Construction Contract (R)
Action: Consider a motion to authorize the Director of Engineering Services

to approve a construction contract with Flowline Contractors, Inc. 
for the Water Services Replacement Project, Hidden Lakes 
Subdivisions 1 & 2 and Granite Bay Shopping Center 

4. Kokila Reservoir Replacement Project – Installment Sale Agreement (R)
Action: Consider approval of Resolution 25-11 authorizing the District to

execute an Installment Sale Agreement with the California State 
Water Resources Control Board to provide funding for the Kokila 
Reservoir Replacement Project 

5. Fees, Charges and Deposits – Results of the User Fee Study Update and
Proposed Changes to Schedule of Fees, Charges and Deposits (W & R)
Action: Consider a motion to adopt Resolution 25-14 to update the

Schedule of Fees, Charges and Deposits based on the 2025 User 
Fee Study 

Action: Introduce and Consider a Motion to Waive First Reading of Ordinance 
No. 25-01 – An Ordinance of the Board of Directors of the San Juan 
Water District Amending Ordinances 18000.01 and 18000.03 

6. Big Impact on a Small Budget: Grant Strategies for Resource-Strapped Agencies
(W & R)
Presentation





(W) – Wholesale  Page 4 of 4 SJWD Board of Directors  
(R) – Retail   Meeting Agenda 
  September 17, 2025 

IX. UPCOMING EVENTS  

1. 2025 ACWA Fall Conference 
December 2-4, 2025 
San Diego, CA 

X. ADJOURN 
 

UPCOMING MEETING DATES  
October 15, 2025 

November 19, 2025 
 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing agenda for the September 17, 2025, meeting of the Board of 
Directors of San Juan Water District was posted by September 12, 2025, on the outdoor bulletin boards at the District 
Office Building, 9935 Auburn Folsom Road, Granite Bay, California, and was freely accessible to the public.  The 
agenda and the board packet is also posted on the District's website at sjwd.org. 

 
 

 
Teri Grant, Board Secretary 



DRAFT 

SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT 
Board of Director’s Board Meeting Minutes 
August 14, 2025 – 6:00 p.m. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Ted Costa President  
Mike McRae Vice President 
Dan Rich  Director 
Pam Tobin Director  
Manuel Zamorano  Director 

SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT MANAGEMENT AND STAFF 
Paul Helliker General Manager 
Donna Silva Director of Finance 
Tony Barela Director of Operations 
Andrew Pierson Director of Engineering 
Devon Barrett Customer Service Manager 
Adam Larsen Field Services Manager 
Greg Zlotnick Water Resources Manager 
Mike Spencer Water Treatment Plant Manager 
Teri Grant Board Secretary/Administrative Assistant 
Ryan Jones General Counsel 
Elizabeth Ewens Water Counsel 

OTHER ATTENDEES 
Adam Larsen’s Family 
Adam Vasquez 
Anonymous 
Ben V. 
Caller 
George Machado 
J 
Jay Boatwright 
Meera Deshmane 
Megan Burke 
Suzanne Jones 
Tom P. 
Mark Hildebrand Hildebrand Consulting 
Craig Locke Sacramento Suburban Water District 
Dan York Sacramento Suburban Water District 
Caleb Burch SJWD Employee 
Chris von Collenberg SJWD Employee 
Daniel Griego SJWD Employee 
Entela Fallstead SJWD Employee 
Jackie Foley SJWD Employee 
Jason Mayorga SJWD Employee 
Mark Hargrove SJWD Employee 
Mike Heasley SJWD Employee 

AGENDA ITEM III-1Back to Agenda



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 2 

AGENDA ITEMS 
I. Roll Call 
II. Public Forum and Comments 
III. Consent Calendar 
IV. Discussion and Action Items 
V. Information Items 
VI. Directors’ Reports 
VII. Future Agenda Items 
VIII. Committee Meetings 
IX. Upcoming Events 
X. Closed Session 
XI. Open Session 
XII. Adjourn 
 
President Costa informed the Board that Director Zamorano was not feeling well and would like 
to leave early. Therefore, he moved agenda items IV-1 through 4 to the beginning of the 
meeting – the minutes will remain in the original order. The agenda items were taken in this 
order – IV-4, IV-2, IV-1, IV-3, II, III then proceeded in order starting with IV-5. Mr. Helliker left 
the meeting after agenda item IV-1. 

I. ROLL CALL 
The Board Secretary took a roll call of the Board. The following directors were present 
in the Boardroom: Ted Costa, Mike McRae, Dan Rich, Pam Tobin, and Manuel 
Zamorano. 

II. PUBLIC FORUM 
There were no public comments. 

III. CONSENT CALENDAR 
All items under the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine and are approved by 
one motion. There was no separate discussion of these items unless a member of the 
Board, audience, or staff requested a specific item removed. Consent Calendar item 
documents are available for review in the Board packet. 

1. Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting, July 16, 2025 (W & R) 
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes 

2. Minutes of the Board of Directors Special Meeting, July 23, 2025 (W & R) 
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes 

3. Minutes of the Board of Directors Special Meeting, July 24, 2025 (W & R) 
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes 

4. Minutes of the Board of Directors Special Meeting, July 25, 2025 (W & R) 
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes 

5. Minutes of the Board of Directors Special Meeting 5:00 pm, July 29, 2025 (W & R) 
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 3 

6. Minutes of the Board of Directors Special Meeting 6:00 pm, July 29, 2025 (W & R) 
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes 

7. Minutes of the Board of Directors Special Meeting, August 1, 2025 (W & R) 
Recommendation: Approve draft minutes 

8. FIN-5.2 Capital Asset Policy – Proposed Change to Capitalization Threshold (W 
& R) 
Recommendation: Amend the Capital Asset Policy to increase the District’s 

capitalization threshold for fixed assets from $5,000 to $10,000, 
effective July 1, 2025 

9. Treasurer’s Report – Quarter ending June 30, 2025 (W & R) 
Recommendation: Receive and file 

 
Director Tobin requested that Consent Calendar item 1 be removed for discussion. 
Vice President McRae requested that Consent Calendar item 8 be removed for 
discussion. 
 
Vice President McRae moved to approve Consent Calendar items 2-7 and 9. 
President Costa seconded the motion and it carried with 4 Aye votes (Director 
Zamorano absent). 
 
Director Tobin requested that the minutes reflect that the word “schedule” be 
changed to “study” in her motion; however, Board Secretary Grant pointed out that 
that motion was made at the June 12th Board meeting and the minutes from that 
meeting were approved at the July Board meeting. Therefore, Director Tobin 
requested that the September 17th Board meeting agenda include an item to amend 
the minutes of the Board of Directors meeting of June 12, 2025. 
 
Director Tobin moved to approve Consent Calendar item 1 - Minutes of the 
Board of Directors Meeting, July 16, 2025. Vice President McRae seconded the 
motion and it carried with 4 Aye votes (Director Zamorano absent). 
 
At the request of Vice President McRae, Ms. Silva provided a brief overview of the 
proposed changes to the Capital Asset Policy, which were outlined in the staff report 
that was included in the Board packet. She mentioned that Mr. Larsen pointed out 
that the District utilizes CityWorks for inventory tracking of District assets, separate 
from the financial accounting of assets. 
 
Director Tobin moved to approve Consent Calendar item 8 - FIN-5.2 Capital 
Asset Policy – Proposed Change to Capitalization Threshold. Vice President 
McRae seconded the motion and it carried with 4 Aye votes (Director 
Zamorano absent). 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 4 

IV. DISCUSSION AND ACTION ITEMS

1. Establishment of Executive Advisor Position (W & R)
Ms. Silva provided a staff report which was included in the Board packet. She
explained that Mr. Helliker’s contract states that when the new General Manager is
hired, Mr. Helliker will become an Executive Advisor – President Costa pointed out
that that contract states Advisor, not Executive Advisor. She explained that the
purpose of this item is to protect Mr. Helliker’s pensionable compensation for the
remainder of his employment with the District, since CalPERS requires Board
approval of positions and salary schedules via resolution.

In response to Director Tobin’s question, Ms. Silva explained that, should the Board 
terminate Mr. Helliker’s contract, his severance payment would not be pensionable 
compensation. In addition, Ms. Silva explained that the income that Mr. Helliker 
would receive as an advisor would not be considered pension spiking since he would 
be providing a service, there is no increase in compensation, and he would continue 
to make contributions to CalPERS. However, Ms. Silva explained that should he be 
compensated through March 6, 2026, and he is not performing services for the 
District, then it could be considered pension spiking since he would continue to 
accrue service credit during that period. Legal Counsel Jones commented that 
pension spiking is usually done at the end of employment where the pay is increased 
to help the employee receive a bigger pension. 

Director Rich commented that Mr. Helliker works for the Board and the Board should 
maximize his knowledge for the next six months. Director Tobin commented that 
should happen only if the new General Manager seeks his consult. The Board 
discussed Mr. Helliker working for the Board but be directed by the Board to work 
under the new General Manager. Director Tobin voiced concern that she has 
received feedback regarding the respect for the new General Manager and explained 
that she’s been told that Mr. Helliker has been reporting that the Board hired the most 
unqualified candidate.  

Director Tobin moved to instigate provision 8 of the contract and terminate Mr. 
Helliker’s contract. 

Director Zamorano stated that he has heard the same thing and it’s important if Mr. 
Helliker were to be the advisor that his services are under the direction of the new 
General Manager and only at the new General Manager’s request. In response to 
Director Zamorano’s question, Legal Counsel Jones informed the Board that they 
could have a motion to establish the position and pay scale via resolution with the 
motion including that Mr. Helliker contract would be amended to say that Mr. Helliker 
would work under the direction of the new General Manager. 

Vice President McRae stated that he watches the budget closely and does not like 
the idea of creating a second position and gave an example of companies hiring the 
next manager while the existing manager takes vacation time. President Costa 
voiced concern that the Board made an agreement with Mr. Helliker to act as an 
advisor once the new General Manager was hired. Legal Counsel Jones informed 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 5 

the Board that if they do not like the way that Mr. Helliker performs his duties as an 
advisor, then the Board does have the right to terminate his contract and pay the 
severance payment. In response to President Costa’s comment about Director Tobin 
voicing hearsay, Vice President McRae stated that he has directly worked with Mr. 
Helliker and Mr. Helliker has repeatedly tried to frustrate everything that he has done, 
including the work with the consultant on the Kokila Reservoir analysis. 
 
Vice President McRae seconded the motion. 
 
Vice President McRae stated that he feels that Mr. Helliker will continue to frustrate 
everything, ruin relationships, and irritate the new General Manager. In response to 
Director Zamorano’s question, Mr. Helliker stated that if the contract was terminated 
immediately, then there would be a lump sum payment which is non-pensionable 
and the negative impact would be reduced pension compensation. 
 
Ms. Suzanne Jones addressed the Board and stated that if the Board were to 
establish a position as Executive Advisor, then they would be promoting Mr. Helliker 
as an advisor to the executive officer. She recommends paying the severance and 
bringing on the new General Manager. 
 
Ms. Meera Deshmane addressed the Board and provided them a handout in support 
of working with the new General Manager on the retail water rates, and she does not 
want an advisor who will conflict with the new General Manager. 
 
Vice President McRae provided examples of how Mr. Helliker has frustrated 
everything that he has tried to do and recommends terminating the contract in order 
to give the new General Manager his best opportunity for success. 
 
Mr. George Machado addressed the Board and voiced his support of Mr. Larsen, 
commended Mr. Helliker for his service with the District, and stated that since Mr. 
Helliker is part of the conflict with the Board it makes sense to remove the conflict. 
 
Director Rich made a point that the Board made a commitment to Mr. Helliker to 
make him whole in June and suggested that the Board advise Mr. Helliker to stay 
home and not be actively involved. He explained that this way Mr. Helliker would 
receive compensation that is pensionable and would keep him whole. 
 
Mr. Larsen addressed the Board and informed them that he had received similar 
information from internal and external people regarding what Mr. Helliker said about 
him and the Board’s decision. Mr. Larsen stated that there was concern regarding 
who would be in charge and there is confusion regarding Mr. Helliker’s role and 
involvement with the District. In addition, Mr. Larsen has been told that people do not 
want to work with the District until Mr. Helliker is no longer with the District. Mr. Larsen 
stated that his concern is that it affects other districts’ trust to work with San Juan 
and his number one priority is to rebuild relationships and work with other districts, 
and he is worried that it undermines their trust in the Board. 
 
The motion carried with the following roll call vote: 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 6 

 
Ayes:  Directors McRae, Tobin and Zamorano 
Noes:  Directors Costa and Rich 
Absent:  None 

2. General Manager Employment Contract (W & R) 
President Costa noted that the Board has the employment agreement before them. 
Legal Counsel Jones informed the Board that he received a request from Director 
Tobin to amend the agreement, and he noted that the amended agreement was also 
before them. Legal Counsel Jones explained that the amended agreement is the 
same as discussed in Closed Session with the addition of language pertaining to the 
Brown Act and transparency under item 7 - Other Terms and Conditions of 
Employment. In response to Legal Counsel Jones’ comment, Mr. Adam Larsen 
confirmed that he had no issues with the amendments to the agreement. 
 
Director Rich commented that since this is the first time that the public is seeing this 
item, he would like to make it known that the Board has made many iterations to the 
agreement and met in Closed Session regarding this topic. 
 
Director Tobin moved to approve the amended employment agreement with 
Adam Larsen as the new General Manager. Director Zamorano seconded the 
motion, and it carried unanimously. 
 
The Board congratulated Mr. Larsen. Mr. Larsen thanked the Board and voiced 
excitement to help set the vision and direction for the District for the next decade. 
 

Director Zamorano left the meeting at 7:09 pm due to not feeling well. 

3. Admin Building Deck Replacement Project (W & R) 
Mr. Barela reviewed the staff report which was included in the Board packet. He 
explained that nine contractors came to the mandatory pre-bid meeting, and nine 
contractors submitted bids, which does not usually happen. Mr. Barela informed the 
Board that insurance paid $201,029.92 to replace the deck; therefore, he is 
requesting the Board to approve a construction contract with Kingsley Builders, Inc. 
for $288,750 with a construction contingency of $28,900 (10%) for a total authorized 
budget of $317,700, which will be split between wholesale and retail evenly. 
 
Director Tobin moved to authorize the Director of Operations to sign a 
construction contract with Kingsley Builders, Inc. for the Admin Building Deck. 
President Costa seconded the motion, and it carried with 4 Aye votes (Director 
Zamorano absent). 

4. Kokila Reservoir Benefit Analysis (R) 
GM Helliker provided a staff report which was included in the Board packet. He 
explained that Vice President McRae had advocated for the allocation of San Juan 
retail capital project costs to subsets of retail customers who could be defined as 
benefitting from those capital projects and requested that San Juan’s engineering 
consultant, who created and operates the system hydraulic model, be requested to 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 7 

develop a proposed scope of work for this project. GM Helliker voiced concern that 
if this route was pursued then, as the rate consultant pointed out, all District 
infrastructure and projects funded by debt would need to be evaluated. In addition, 
he pointed out that customer bills would be very complicated due to multiple line 
items and the Prop. 218 process would need to be completed every year. 
 
Mr. Barela explained how the consultant will trace where the water goes from Kokila 
Reservoir into the system by running a simulated model for one month. The modeling 
will include a couple of different scenarios but no emergency-type scenarios. In 
addition, he informed the Board that the Cavitt-Stallman project would be analyzed 
as well.  
 
President Costa reminded the Board that when the District was formed, Citrus 
Heights and Fair Oaks Water Districts did not want to serve the Granite Bay area 
and choose to have San Juan Water District provide water to that area. He voiced 
concern that the cost could be substantial if the District took this route and suggested 
that the Board look at using Property Tax revenue, with a higher percentage toward 
retail, to help fund this.  
 
Director Tobin commented that in 2020 the Retail Master Plan was completed, and 
the study was done on the Kokila Reservoir. GM Helliker stated that the Kokila 
Reservoir Project was a project that was included in the master plan and, after design 
was complete, the project is ready for construction. He commented that a modeling 
study such as this has never been performed. Ms. Silva pointed out that when using 
this type of allocation for setting rates, the District would need to evaluate assets 
such as the Cooperative Transmission Pipeline and the Fair Oaks Pipeline since 
they do not benefit customers to the north and she questions when the evaluations 
would stop, what would determine that. 
 
Vice President McRae pointed out that this request came about because customers 
were challenging the District stating that they were being over-charged. He 
commented that earlier this year the Board decided to do a rate study analysis 
roadmap, which has not been made yet, and feels this task may be premature. He 
would like to move closer to charging the cost of service to each parcel, as there is 
a history of having a lot of capital work in the upper pressure zones that are charged 
to everyone. He suggested that everything is looked at before determining the rate 
structure/cost allocations.  
 
Vice President McRae voiced disappointment in the staff report stating that he had 
repeatedly stated the evaluation that needs to be done is to determine why was 
Kokila Reservoir installed – what subset of customers need that facility. He stated 
that the discussion with GM Helliker concluded with obtaining a consultant, that Vice 
President McRae would edit the scope of work, and the consultant would report to 
the Board of Directors during the rate study process – and none of that is in the scope 
of work that was attached to the staff report. Vice President McRae recommends 
saving this effort for the rate study roadmap and discussing this with the new General 
Manager. Director Zamorano recommended that the rate impact be included in the 
study. Ms. Meera Deshmane addressed the Board and encouraged the Board to 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 8 

review the rate structure and then decide what is the best for the customers and the 
District. 
 
Vice President McRae moved to defer the Kokila Reservoir study, sometime in 
the future, to be part of the rate study roadmap. Director Zamorano seconded 
the motion, and it carried unanimously. 

5. Bay-Delta Water Quality Control Plan (W) 
Mr. Greg Zlotnick conducted a presentation which was included in the Board packet. 
He explained what the Healthy Rivers & Landscapes Program (HR&LP) is, the flow 
commitment, the surface water supply commitment, and the agreements that are in 
place between RWA/DWR and RWA/nine SGA members.  In addition, he reviewed 
the fees that the District would need to pay (which are also paid by all water agencies 
statewide) and the agreements that the District will need to sign. Furthermore, he 
reviewed HR&LP structure and the Pluses and Concerns regarding the program. 
 
Mr. Zlotnick reported that the most recent versions of the documents are at least two 
years old.  He expects the timeline to be by the end of the year. Legal Counsel Ewens 
noted that this should go before the State Water Board in September. Mr. Zlotnick 
informed the Board that there will be a workshop on September 8-9, but he is unable 
to attend. 

6. Conjunctive Use and Groundwater Banking Activities Update (W & R) 
Mr. Zlotnick reported that the last meeting with Citrus Heights and Fair Oaks Water 
Districts was cancelled. He reported that he attended the Sacramento Groundwater 
Authority meeting today and President Costa made some nice points about some of 
the accounting questions. In addition, there is still a question of the need for an 
Environmental Impact Report (EIR) and he feels that the majority is going to favor 
an EIR even though San Juan believes it is unnecessary. Mr. Zlotnick mentioned 
that there is some concern about loss of federal funding for the program, which is 
unclear at this time. In response to Director Tobin’s question, Legal Counsel Ewens 
informed the Board that an EIR could be in excess of $1 million. Legal Counsel 
Ewens also commented that she believes that SGA needs a more accurate project 
description in place upon which to determine the need for an EIR. 
 
In response to President Costa’s comment, Mr. Zlotnick explained that there are 
discussions in the Program Committee about previously banked water and a starting 
water balance for the water bank. Mr. Zlotnick informed the Board that the consultant 
has a technical number which reduces the previously banked water by 47% as 
unavailable in the starting water balance. In addition, there has been discussion 
about a stream flow depletion factor which the State wants to set at 25%, which 
means, in a water transfer, the amount of water actually accounted for as transferred 
would actually be 25% less than the amount of water bypassed to flow downstream 
to the buyer. 

7. 2025 Hydrology and Operations Update (W & R) 
No report. 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 9 

V. INFORMATION ITEMS 

1. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

1.1 General Manager’s Monthly Report (W & R) 
A written report for July was included in the Board packet. Vice President 
McRae congratulated GM Larsen and welcomed him to his new position. Vice 
President McRae is looking forward to a positive future and is asking staff to 
rally behind the new General Manager to help him be successful. Mr. Machado 
voiced his support for GM Larsen. In response to Director Tobin’s request that 
staff submit GM Larsen’s information for the ACWA Newsletter, Board 
Secretary Grant informed the Board that a press release would be going out 
and will include submission to the ACWA Newsletter. 

1.2 Miscellaneous District Issues and Correspondence 
No report.  

2. DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND HUMAN RESOURCES’ REPORT 

2.1 Miscellaneous District Issues and Correspondence 
Ms. Silva reported that the adopted FY 2025-26 Budget is now on the website 
and if any of the Board members want a hardcopy of the budget to let staff 
know. 

3. DIRECTOR OF OPERATIONS’ REPORT 

3.1 Miscellaneous District Issues and Correspondence 
Mr. Barela informed the Board that Placer County Water Agency (PCWA) and 
the City of Roseville (Roseville) are contemplating installing a raw water 
pipeline that will run from PCWA’s Foothill water treatment plant to Roseville’s 
water treatment plant. Mr. Barela and Mr. Pierson contacted PCWA and 
Roseville to obtain more information and to discuss the possibility of including 
the District in this project. Mr. Barela informed the Board that PCWA and 
Roseville are interested in working with the District. Mr. Barela reported that 
he reached out to their consultant, Brown & Caldwell, to obtain a proposal to 
prepare a supplemental report to their master feasibility report to show what it 
would look like if the District participated in the project. Mr. Barela reported that 
about 75% might be paid under the Army Corps of Engineers' Section 219 
funding. Mr. Barela will report back once he receives more information. 

4. DIRECTOR OF ENGINEERING SERVICES’ REPORT 

4.1 Miscellaneous District Issues and Correspondence 
Mr. Pierson reported that the next round of service replacements is out to bid 
for the Hidden Lakes Subdivisions 1 & 2 and Granite Bay Shopping Center 
(Ace Hardware) and he anticipates bringing the contract to the September 
Board meeting. 
 
Mr. Pierson reported that the pre-construction meeting for Kokila Reservoir 
Replacement Project is scheduled and he discussed with staff the possibility 
of having a groundbreaking ceremony for the project, similar to Citrus Heights 
Water District’s ceremony for their wells and since there was federal funding, 
he will reach out to Kevin Kiley’s office for their support. 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 10 

5. LEGAL COUNSEL’S REPORT 

5.1 Legal Matters 
No report. 

VI. DIRECTORS’ REPORTS 

1. SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTHORITY (SGA) 
This topic was discussed under Agenda Item IV-6. 

2. REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY (RWA) 
No report. 

3. ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA WATER AGENCIES (ACWA) 

3.1 ACWA - Pam Tobin 
Director Tobin reported that ACWA sent out a legislative alert urging members 
to support the spending plan for Proposition 4. Mr. Zlotnick informed the Board 
that staff is waiting for ACWA’s letter and plans to support it and possibly draft 
a District letter. President Costa suggested that Mr. Zlotnick have a seat at the 
table at future Board meetings. 

3.2 Joint Powers Insurance Authority (JPIA) - Pam Tobin 
Director Tobin reviewed a written report which was added to the Board packet. 

4. OTHER REPORTS, CORRESPONDENCE, COMMENTS, IDEAS AND SUGGESTIONS 
There were no other matters discussed. 

VII. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Requests by Board Members for Agenda Items 
There were no requests for agenda items other than amendments to the June 12th 
Board minutes. 

2. Meeting Date Changes and Board Attendance 
There were no requests to consider. 

VIII. COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

1. Finance Committee – August 12, 2025 
The committee meeting minutes were included in the Board packet. 

IX. UPCOMING EVENTS 

1. 2025 ACWA Fall Conference 
December 2-4, 2025 
San Diego, CA 

 



August 14, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 11 

At 8:14 p.m., President Costa announced that the Board was adjourning to Closed Session 
and there were no public comments. 

X. CLOSED SESSION 

1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION (Section 
54956.9) 
Citrus Heights Water District, et al. vs. San Juan Water District, Case Number: 
23WM000064, Sacramento County Superior Court 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to California Government Code Section 
54956.9(d)(2) (one case) 

XI. OPEN SESSION 
There was no reportable action.  

XII. ADJOURN 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:02 p.m. 

       ________________________________ 
 EDWARD J. “TED” COSTA, President 
   Board of Directors 
  San Juan Water District 
 
 
ATTEST:   
 TERI GRANT, Board Secretary 



DRAFT 
SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT 
Board of Director’s Special Minutes 
August 22, 2025 – 10:00 a.m.  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Ted Costa President 
Mike McRae Vice President (teleconference) 
Pam Tobin Director  
Manuel Zamorano  Director 

SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT MANAGEMENT AND STAFF 
Adam Larsen General Manager 
Donna Silva Director of Finance 
Tony Barela Director of Operations 
Andrew Pierson Director of Engineering 
Teri Grant Board Secretary/Administrative Assistant 
Ryan Jones Legal Counsel 

OTHER ATTENDEES 
George Machado 
James McCabe 
Craig Locke Sacramento Suburban Water District 

AGENDA ITEMS 
I. Roll Call
II. Vacant Position - Board of Directors
III. Closed Session
IV. Open Session
V. Adjourn

President Costa called the meeting to order at 10:12 a.m. 

I. ROLL CALL
The Board Secretary took a roll call of the Board. The following directors were present in
the Boardroom: Ted Costa, Pam Tobin and Manuel Zamorano. Director Mike McRae was
present via teleconference.

II. VACANT POSITION - BOARD OF DIRECTORS
GM Larsen provided the Board with a staff report which was included in the Board packet.
In response to President Costa’s question, Legal Counsel Jones explained that the Board
can do one of three things to fill the vacancy as written in the staff report; however, the notice
of vacancy would need to be posted at least 15 days prior to any appointment. The Board
discussed the process of filling the Board vacancy for Division 1 which was created when
Director Rich resigned.

Director Tobin moved to appoint George Machado to fill the vacant seat of the 
Board.  

Legal Counsel Jones explained that an appointment could not be made at this meeting 
and only a decision on the process to use to fill the vacancy could be made at this time. 

AGENDA ITEM III-2Back to Agenda



August 22, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 2 

He explained that the appointment could be made at the September Board meeting. 
Vice President McRae suggested that the Board put out a Notice of Vacancy, for the 15 
days, then the Board could either make a direct appointment or conduct interviews at 
their discretion. 

Director Tobin moved to amend her motion to post the Notice of Vacancy for 15 
days or more prior to the September 17th Board meeting and open the vacancy to 
interested parties and the Board will decide at the September Board meeting 
whether to appoint a candidate at that time or conduct interviews. Vice President 
McRae seconded the motion, and it carried with the following roll call vote: 

Ayes: Directors Costa, McRae, Tobin and Zamorano 
Noes: None 
Absent: None 

Directors Zamorano and Costa requested that the September Board meeting agenda include an 
item to consider increasing Ms. Donna Silva and Ms. Teri Grant’s compensation. President Costa 
requested that the September Board meeting agenda under the standing groundwater item include 
an item to discuss the practicality of having a standard water contract for banking. Director Tobin 
requested that the September Board meeting agenda include an item regarding Small Agencies, 
Big Dollars and she will provide information to GM Larsen for the agenda. 

President Costa announced that there will be an online discussion that the Sacramento 
Groundwater Authority is conducting on August 28th regarding water banking and that information 
will be sent to the Board. 

At 10:26 a.m., President Costa announced that the Board was adjourning to Closed Session and 
there were no public comments. 

III. CLOSED SESSION
1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION

Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to California Government Code Section
54956.9(d)(2) (one case)

IV. OPEN SESSION
There was no reportable action.

V. ADJOURN

The meeting was adjourned at 10:47 a.m. 

________________________________ 
ATTEST: EDWARD J. “TED” COSTA, President 

Board of Directors 
San Juan Water District 

TERI GRANT, Board Secretary 





George Machado
Retired Field Servies Manager, San Juan Water District

8325 Keyesport Way

Citrus Heights, Ca. 95610
September 4, 2025

Board Secretary
San Juan Water District
9935 Auburn Folsom Road
Granite Bay, CA 95746
Email: tgrant@sjwd.org

RE: Letter of Interest - Division 1 Board Vacancy

Dear Board of Directors,

I am writing to express my strong interest in being appointed to the San Juan Water District Board of Directors for
Division 1. As a registered voter residing within Division 1 and a retired water professional with over 25 years of
hands-on experience in nearly every operational, supervisory, and strategic role within San Juan Water District's
Field Services, I believe I offer a deep understanding of the systems, poliCies, and responsibilities required of this
role.

During my tenure with the District from 1994 to 2020, I served in progressive capacities, ranging from
Distribution Operator to Distribution Lead Worker, ultimately retiring as Field Services Manager. I directly
oversaw the maintenance, construction, cross-connection control, and regulatory compliance programs across
both wholesale and retail systems. I led teams, collaborated on capital improvement projects, responded to
water quality concerns, and played a pivotal role in budget development and emergency response.

My background includes a strong knowledge of California water regulations (Title 17, Title 22), safety standards
(CaVOSHA, IIPP), and effective utility management practices. I understand the responsibilities of governance,
having supported board-level reporting, public engagement, and interagency coordination throughout my career.

I am passionate about sustainable water management and public service. If appointed, I will bring institutional
knowledge, integrity, and a collaborative spirit to the board. I am confident in my ability to contribute
immediately and effectively to the oversight of the District's mission.

Thank you for your consideration. I welcome the opportunity to serve the residents of Division 1 and contribute
to the continued success of San Juan Water District.

George Machado



George Machado
8325 Keyesport Way Citrus Heights, Ca. 95610 I (916) 804-7244
Registered Voter, San Juan Water District - Division 1
Retired Field Servies Manager, San Juan Water District

OBJECTIVE

To contribute proven leadership, operational insight, and regulatory expertise to the San Juan Water District
Board of Directors as the appointed representative for Division 1.

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

San Juan Water District - Granite Bay, CA
July 1994 - March 11, 2020
Final Position: Field Services Manager
(Progressed from Distribution Operator to Lead Worker and Management Roles)

• Directed the construction, maintenance, and operation of the District's wholesale transmission and retail
distribution systems, pump stations, and storage facilities.

• Supervised technical and field personnel; responsible for training, safety enforcement, and performance
evaluations.

• Ensured regulatory compliance with CA Title 17 and Title 22, NPDES, and Central Valley RWQCB
permits.

• Coordinated cross-connection control, USA locates, and leak detection programs.
• Played a key role in emergency response operations using ICS and NIMS protocols.
• Developed operating and capital budgets; managed expenditures and procurement processes.
• Represented operations in interdepartmental and public meetings; collaborated with engineering on

system designs and master planning.
• Oversaw project bidding, contractor coordination, and quality control.
• Acted as Competent Person on safety programs including Confined Space, Heat Stress, and

Lockout/Tagout.
• Maintained strong working relationships with other local agencies and the community.

Key Contributions:

• Spearheaded numerous system upgrade projects across retail and wholesale systems.
• Implemented and improved SOPs, asset management protocols, and water efficiency practices.
• Championed internal succession planning and staff development.

EDUCATION & CERTIFICATIONS

•
High School Diploma - Procter R Hug High School, 1980
Advanced Coursework - Water Distribution, Supervision, and Management
California State Water Resources Control Board - Grade D4 Water Distribution Certification

•

•



PROFESSIONAL SKILLS

• Regulatory Compliance (Title 17, Title 22, CallOSHA, NPDES)
• Water Distribution & Efficiency
• Capital Planning & Budget Management
• Staff Leadership & Training
• Safety & Emergency Program Management
• Public Relations & Interagency Coordination
• Construction Oversight & System Design Review
• Asset Management & SOP Development
• Strategic Planning & Policy Implementation

COMMUNITY & PUBLIC SERVICE

• Lifelong resident of San Juan Water District service area
• Committed to transparent, sustainable, and equitable water resource management
• Supporter of water conservation, infrastructure investment, and long-term planning



STAFF REPORT

To: Board of Directors 

From: Adam Larsen, General Manager 

Date: September 17, 2025 

Subject: Amendment to Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting, 
June 12, 2025 (W & R) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Consider a motion to amend the June 12, 2025, Board of Directors meeting minutes to 
reflect a change on page 9 under agenda item VI-1 pertaining to Director Tobin’s motion 
related to retail rates. 

BACKGROUND 
At the August 14, 2025, Board meeting, Director Tobin requested an amendment to the 
June 12, 2025, Board of Directors meeting minutes. She requested that her motion 
regarding retail rates reflect the word “study” and not “schedule”. The Board Secretary re-
listened to the recording of the meeting and confirmed that Director Tobin indeed said 
“study”. Therefore, staff recommends the amendment to the Board meeting minutes of 
June 12, 2025, as seen in the attached red-line version of page 9. 

Attachment: 
June 12, 2025, Board Meeting Minutes – Page 9 red-line 

AGENDA ITEM IV-2Back to Agenda



June 12, 2025, Board Minutes 
Page 9 

 
In response to Director Tobin’s comment about never reducing rates, GM Helliker 
explained that removal of the project would result in a lower revenue requirement 
which would result in a lower rate. Ms. Silva commented that the consultant would 
also need to analyze and incorporate an amount into the rates to cover anticipated 
costs of any groundwater partnership agreement that may occur. 
 
Director Rich moved to adopt Resolution No. 25-10 adopting a four-year 
schedule of retail water rates. President Costa seconded the motion. 
 
Director Tobin voiced concern regarding the District’s rate setting process as it 
relates to fairness, transparency, and compliance with the Prop. 218 requirements. 
She pointed out a member of the public’s comments regarding the current rate 
structure and encourages the Board to hold off adopting the proposed rates until a 
rate structure analysis is completed. 
 
Director Tobin moved for a substitute motion to delay adopting Resolution No. 
25-10, which adopts a four-year schedule of retail water rates, until after a retail 
rate schedule study analysis is performed. Vice President McRae seconded 
the motion. 
 
Ms. Deshmane addressed the Board and stated that she received information from 
GM Helliker which showed eleven different agencies that have different rates for ¾”, 
5/8” and 1” meters so if that was against the law then how can they have those rates. 
GM Helliker responded that he never said that those rates were against the law, and 
instead had explained that the District has 95% single family residential customers 
who are similarly situated and it is arbitrary whether they have a ¾” or a 1” meter, 
and they are receiving the same service. GM Helliker pointed out that the rate 
consultant structured the rates in a way that is legally supportable. 
 
In response to Mr. Larsen’s question, Legal Counsel Jones informed the Board that 
if any changes are made that increase any rate, then the Prop. 218 process will have 
to be implemented again. Ms. Silva added that the current rate structure is legal, 
allowed and reasonable according to our rate consultant. She commented that Ms. 
Deshmane’s proposal regarding the weighted average of actual meter sizes, based 
on the data that she was provided (which is not accurate at this time), would result 
in a higher factor which would also be acceptable. However, the ramification of 
utilizing the factor that Ms. Deshmane proposed would result in an approximate rate 
increase of 3.5% for 97% of the District’s customers, while there would be a rate 
decrease of 7-10% for the other customers. Ms. Silva informed the Board that an 
additional Prop. 218 notice would need to be issued at a cost of approximately 
$10,000 and it would be very confusing for the District’s customer base. Ms. Silva 
pointed out that Ms. Deshmane’s methodology is not incorrect and it is logically 
sound; however, the methodology that the rate consultant has done is legal and 
defensible. 
 
GM Helliker pointed out that the rate structure will be reviewed as part of the rate 
review and the rate consultant did note that the amount of water that is being used 



STAFF REPORT

To: Board of Directors 

From: Andrew Pierson, Director of Engineering Services 

Date: September 17, 2025 

Subject: Construction Contract for Water Services Replacement Project; 

Hidden Lakes Subdivisions 1 & 2 and Granite Bay Shopping Center 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Staff requests a Board motion to authorize the Director of Engineering Services to approve a 
construction contract with Flowline Contractors, Inc. for the amount of $1,340,797.10 with a 
construction contingency of $134,079.71 (10%) for a total authorized budget of $1,474,876.81. 

BACKGROUND 
This Project is part of the District’s annual CIP water services replacement program identified in 
the 2020 Retail Master Plan. The purpose of the program is to replace water services, fire 
hydrants, air release valves, and blow-offs in areas with a recent history of leaking and/or deficient 
water facilities. 

This Project includes two areas in Granite Bay, the Hidden Lakes Subdivisions 1 & 2 and the 
Granite Bay Shopping Center. In the Hidden Lakes Subdivisions 1 & 2, the Project replaces 82 
water services, 6 fire hydrants, 1 air release valve, and a blowoff. In the Granite Bay Shopping 
Center, the Project modifies or replaces 27 water services. 

The design for the Project was completed in-house, and the Engineer’s construction estimate is 
approximately $1.9 million. 

CURRENT STATUS 
Ten (10) contractors attended the mandatory pre-bid conference, and six (6) bids were received 
on September 8, 2025. The Bid outcomes are summarized as follows: 

Bidder Bid Amount 

Flowline Contractor’s, Inc. $1,340,797.10 

LaFleur Engineering, Inc. $1,632,687.00 

TAK Broadband Ca, LLC $1,743,567.45 

Mountain Cascade, Inc. $1,749,148.00 

Navajo Pipelines, Inc. $1,760,200.00 

McGuire and Hester $1,804,545.00 

Flowline was the lowest responsive, responsible bidder. Flowline’s bid documents were reviewed 
and found to be complete and in order, including license, insurance, and bonds. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
The Project is included in FY 2025/2026 Retail CIP Budget. 

AGENDA ITEM IV-3Back to Agenda





STAFF REPORT 
Kokila Reservoir Replacement – Installment Sale Agreement 

Donna Silva 

September 17, 2025 Page 2 of 5 

CURRENT STATUS 
The final action needed to secure this low-interest rate financing is adoption of 
Resolution 25-11 approving the form of the Installment Sale Agreement (the loan 
document) and the terms of the financing, which are as follows. 

Term:  30 years 
Interest Rate:  1.9% 
Maximum Loan Amount:  $12,110,000 
Restricted Reserve Fund:  equal to one year of debt service 
Required Debt Coverage Ratio: net revenues must be equal to the sum of at 
least 120% of the maximum annual debt service with respect to all outstanding 
obligations. 

Attachments: 
Good Faith Estimate 
Resolution 25-11 Closing Resolution 



STAFF REPORT 
Kokila Reservoir Replacement – Installment Sale Agreement 

Donna Silva 

September 17, 2025 Page 3 of 5 

GOOD FAITH ESTIMATES 

The good faith estimates set forth herein are provided with respect to the Installment Sale 

Agreement in accordance with California Government Code Section 5852.1. Such good 

faith estimates have been provided to the District by Urban Futures, Inc. (the “Municipal 

Advisor”).  

Principal Amount.  The Municipal Advisor has informed the District that, based on the 

District’s financing plan and current market conditions, its good faith estimate of the 

aggregate principal amount of the Installment Sale Agreement is $12,110,000 (the 

“Estimated Principal Amount”). 

True Interest Cost of the Installment Sale Agreement.  The Municipal Advisor has 

informed the District that, assuming the Estimated Principal Amount of the Installment 

Sale Agreement, its good faith estimate of the true interest cost of the Installment Sale 

Agreement, which means the rate necessary to discount the amounts payable on the 

respective principal and interest payment dates to the purchase price received for the 

Installment Sale Agreement, is 1.9%. 

Finance Charge of the Installment Sale Agreement.  The Municipal Advisor has 

informed the District that, assuming the Estimated Principal Amount of the Installment 

Sale Agreement, its good faith estimate of the finance charge for the Installment Sale 

Agreement, which means the sum of all fees and charges paid to third parties (or costs 

associated with the Installment Sale Agreement), is $0. 

Amount of Proceeds to be Received.  The Municipal Advisor has informed the District 

that, assuming the Estimated Principal Amount of the Installment Sale Agreement, its good 

faith estimate of the amount of proceeds expected to be received by the District for the 

Installment Sale Agreement, less the finance charge of the Installment Sale Agreement, as 

estimated above, and any reserves or capitalized interest paid or funded with proceeds of 

the Installment Sale Agreement, is $12,110,000.  

Total Payment Amount.  The Municipal Advisor has informed the District that, assuming 

the Estimated Principal Amount of the Installment Sale Agreement, its good faith estimate 

of the total payment amount, which means the sum total of all installment payments the 

District will make under the Installment Sale Agreement, plus the finance charge for the 

Installment Sale Agreement, as described above, not paid with the proceeds of the 

Installment Sale Agreement, calculated to the final maturity of the Installment Sale 

Agreement, is $16,023,540. 



STAFF REPORT 
Kokila Reservoir Replacement – Installment Sale Agreement 

Donna Silva 

September 17, 2025 Page 4 of 5 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-11 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT AUTHORIZING AN INSTALLMENT 
SALE AGREEMENT WITH THE CALIFORNIA STATE WATER RESOUCES 

CONTROL BOARD FOR THE KOKILA RESERVOIR REPLACEMENT 
PROJECT 

WHEREAS, the Kokila Reservoir is a critical facility of the districts’ water 
delivery system; and 

WHEREAS, it has been determined that the existing reservoir cover and liner 
are at the end of their useful life; and  

WHEREAS, the District needs financing to fund the approximate $13.36 
million project; and 

WHEREAS, the District has submitted applications to the State Water 
Resources Control Board for financial assistance from the Drinking Water State 
Revolving Fund (SRF); and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the ratepayers of the San Juan Water 
District to obtain a low interest rate loan through the SRF; and 

WHEREAS, the San Juan Water District Board of Directors previously 
passed Resolution 25-03 stating the District’s intention to spend monies on the 
project prior to approval of the loan agreement, preserving the District’s ability to get 
reimbursed for monies expended prior to loan execution; and 

WHEREAS, the San Juan Water District Board of Directors also passed 
Resolution 25-04 naming the Director of Finance as the authorized representative 
for signing applications, certifications and agreements related to the financing.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT (the “Entity”), AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Approval of the Installment Sale Agreement:  The Director of 
Finance (or their designee) of the San Juan Water District is authorized to enter into 
the Installment Sale Agreement, the form of which is attached to this Resolution as 
Attachment A, with the State Water Resources Control Board.  The state loan 
evidenced by the Installment Sale Agreement shall be payable from a pledge of the 
Revenues, as described in the agreement) of the district on a parity lien with the 
payment of other parity obligations of the District. 



STAFF REPORT 
Kokila Reservoir Replacement – Installment Sale Agreement 

Donna Silva 

September 17, 2025 Page 5 of 5 

The Board of Directors hereby approves the terms of the Installment Sale 
Agreement as follows: 

a) Interest rate not to exceed 1.9%
b) Term not to exceed 30 years
c) Loan amount not to exceed $12,110,000
d) Establishment of a restricted reserve fund equal to one year of debt

service
e) Debt coverage ratio requirement: net revenues must be equal to the

sum of at least 120% of the maximum annual debt service with respect
to all outstanding obligations of the District.

The final agreement may be modified as approved by the General Manager 
or the Director of Finance, in consultation with the District’s legal counsel, provided 
such changes or modifications do not materially increase the financial risk to the 
District.   

Section 2.  SB 450 Compliance.  The District acknowledges that the good 
faith estimates required by Section 5852.1 of the California Government Code are 
disclosed in the staff report and are available to the public at the meeting at which 
this resolution is approved.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the San Juan Water 
District on the 22nd day of February 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: DIRECTORS: 
NOES: DIRECTORS: 
ABSENT: DIRECTORS: 

EDWARD J. “TED” COSTA 
President, Board of Directors 

ATTEST San Juan Water District 

TERI GRANT 
Board Secretary 



1 

STAFF REPORT

To: Board of Directors 

From: Donna Silva, Director of Finance & Human Resources 
Entela Fallstead, Senior Accountant 

Date: September 17, 2025 

Subject: Fees, Charges and Deposits – Results of Updated User Fee Study and 
Recommended User Fee Changes 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Staff request a Board motion to adopt Resolution 25-14 approving changes to the 
District’s various user fees as described and recommended in the 2025 User Fee Study. 
The staff recommendation was reviewed by the Finance Committee, which recommends 
approval by the Board of Directors. 

BACKGROUND 
The District conducts periodic Financial Plan and Rate Studies to guide the overall 
financial health of the District and to set retail and wholesale water rates. In addition to 
these studies, the District assesses a variety of fees, charges, and deposits that are 
outside the scope of the Financial Plan and Rate Study. These user fees relate to 
activities that provide specific benefit to a single entity or are penalties intended to 
dissuade undesirable and costly activities, such as unauthorized hydrant use or water 
theft. 

In 2019, the District contracted with MGT Impact Solutions (MGT) to perform a User Fee 
Study. That study resulted in the adjustment of fees to achieve full cost recovery. The 
Board also directed staff to adjust the fees annually based on the November over 
November Consumer Price Index (CPI). 

In 2025, the District engaged MGT again to update the study using the fiscal year 2024-
2025 operating budget, staffing, and operational processes. The consultant collaborated 
with staff from the Finance, Customer Service, Engineering, and Field Services 
departments to develop the study’s findings. The 2025 User Fee Study conducted by 
MGT Impact Solutions utilized a cost-of-service approach based on fully burdened hourly 
rates and estimated staff time to deliver each service. This methodology ensures that fees 
reflect the actual cost of providing services, including direct labor, indirect costs, and 
administrative overhead. 

In alignment with California Government Code Section 66014(a) and Proposition 26, the 
proposed fees are designed to recover no more than the reasonable cost of service. The 
District also considered economic equity, community benefit, and fairness in fee setting. 
Where services primarily benefit individual users, fees should be set at full cost recovery. 

AGENDA ITEM IV-5Back to Agenda



2 

 

Where broader community benefits exist, fees could be set lower than cost recovery, 
subsidized by general revenues and structured to encourage compliance. 
 
The study concludes that existing fees and charges are currently recovering 87% of the 
fully burdened costs associated with the various activities, leaving a 13% subsidy of 
approximately $39,328 to be covered by general non-rate revenues. While the law 
prohibits the District from charging more than the actual cost of service, charging less 
results in an unintended subsidy funded by all customers through their water rates. 
 
The updated study recommends revising existing fees, introducing new ones, and 
eliminating outdated charges to better align the fees with the District’s operating 
processes and costs. 
 
Recommended Revisions to Existing Fees, Penalties and Deposits 
 

FEES: 
The following fees are charged to recover the cost of providing specific services that 
benefit only the recipient, as opposed to the customer base in general. Unless 
otherwise discussed below, the proposed fee increases listed below are driven by the 
time it takes for staff to provide the service, multiplied by the applicable hourly rate of 
the staff involved. 

 

FEE NAME CURRENT 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE 

Returned Payment Fee $35 $52 

Disconnection for Non-Payment $112 $155 

Voluntary Disconnection  $72 $141 

Reconnection $72 $141 

After Hours Reconnection $324 $846 

Unauthorized Connection $609 $625 

Meter Lock Replacement $62 $73 

Meter Box Clearance – per hour $179 $204 

Meter Testing – customer requested $418 $615 

Water Conservation Reconnection:   

     1st (cost recovery) $227 $335 

     2nd (cost recovery + penalty) $410 $485 

     3rd (cost recovery + penalty) $593 $635 

     4th (cost recovery + penalty) $958 $935 

Hydrant Meter Permit $327 $431 

Hydrant Meter Daily Rental $5 $6 

Backflow Device Test  
(SJWD Personnel) 

$197 $238 

Backflow Devit Test  
(SJWD Personnel, After Hours) 

$436 $771 



3 

 

FEE NAME CURRENT 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE 

Back Device Test  
(SJWD Contractor) 

$64 $68 

New Service Inspection & Activation 
(includes 1-inch meter) 

$1,277 $1,510 

Inspection, Larger than 1”  
(no meter) 

$734 $855 

New Service Reinspection –  
2nd & 3rd 

$249 $312 

Custom Flow/Pressure Analysis & 
Letter 

$289 $594 

Standard Flow/Pressure Analysis & 
Letter 

$131 $357 

Administrative Overhead 20% of cost $181 
contracts/other 

direct costs 

  $115 use of 
District parts 

 
Administrative Overhead – The District occasionally allows developers or customers 
to utilize existing District contracts for work on their specific projects or properties. 
When that happens, they need to reimburse the District for their share of the 
administrative costs involved in creating the contract and paying the invoice. 
Additionally, staff will occasionally allow a developer or customer to use an item out 
of the District’s inventory. In these instances, the beneficiary should pay not only for 
the cost of the part, but for the administrative costs of procuring the part and disbursing 
it from inventory. 
 
Industry practice used to be to charge a percentage overhead markup to the invoices. 
Following a comprehensive review and consultation with both internal staff and the 
District’s consultant, it was determined that the existing percentage-based overhead 
model is inequitable because it changes the overhead fee based on the dollar amount 
of the invoice, rather than the work involved to process and pay it. The recommended 
fees are based upon the average time it takes for each step of the process, as 
described below. 
 
Each external transaction involves a series of steps, which may include procurement 
by purchasing staff, inventory receipting and disbursement, issuing and evaluating 
Requests for Proposals (RFPs), vendor selection, contract execution, ongoing 
administration, and payment processing. These activities demand staff time and 
resources, which incur real costs. 
 
To comply with legal requirements prohibiting charges that exceed the actual cost of 
service, staff developed two flat administrative fees: 
 





5 

 

penalty. The board of directors may provide for the collection of these penalties”. This 
change replaces the previous flat retail fee of $28.00 which was based on the costs 
associated with the previous shut-off process and is intended to discourage late 
payments. 
 
Since the District no longer performs water shutoffs for non-payment, there has been 
a noticeable increase in delinquent accounts and a growing balance of past due 
amounts. While the implementation of property tax lien roll collections has proven 
effective in efficiently recovering these balances, without disrupting water service, the 
District does not earn interest on the outstanding amounts. As a result, timely-paying 
ratepayers are effectively subsidizing delinquent accounts. 
 
Peer agency comparisons (see MGT’s Exhibit 2 – Late Payment Fee Comparisons 
below) support the proposed late fee structure. Agencies such as Fair Oaks, Orange 
Vale, and Sacramento Suburban Water Districts apply similar penalties, reinforcing 
the fairness and reasonableness of the District’s approach. The additional 1% monthly 
charge serves as a modest but effective deterrent to late payments, supporting the 
District’s cash flow needs without placing an undue burden on customers. 
 

Exhibit 2 – Late Payment Fee Comparisons 
Agency Late Fee Lien Process In Place 
San Juan 

Water District  
10% of past due balance + 

1% per month on 
delinquent balance 

Yes 

Carmichael 
Water District 

$10 per occurrence No 

Citrus Heights 
Water District 

5% of past due balance Yes 

City of Folsom 1.5% per month on 
delinquent balance (not 

currently charging) 

Yes 

Fair Oaks 
Water District 

10% of past due balance In process 

Orange Vale 
Water 

Company 

10% of past due balance No 

Placer County 
Water Agency 

6% of past due balance No 

Sacramento 
Suburban 

Water District 

10% of past due balance Yes 

 
The proposed late fee structure is a necessary step to promote timely payments and 
reduce the financial burden on compliant customers. 
 
DEPOSITS: 
The following Deposits are collected when the cost of providing a service is unknown. 
Actual time and materials are charged against the deposit. When the work is complete 



6 

 

any remaining deposit is returned to the customer. If the deposit is not sufficient to 
cover costs, additional monies are requested.  
 
 

DEPOSIT NAME CURRENT  
DEPOSIT 

PROPOSED 
DEPOSIT 

Hydrant Meter – 
Standard Size 

$3,263 $3,000 

Single Unit Plan Review $767 $1,055 

Minor Subdivision Plan 
Review (2-4, no meter)  

$3,763 $5,088 

Major Subdivision Plan 
Review (5+, no meters) 

$7,092 $9,547 

Construction Inspection Varies – set by Dir. 
of Eng. Services 

Varies – set by Dir. 
of Eng. Services 

New Service Connection 
(Tapping) 

Varies – set by Dir. 
of Eng. Services 

Varies – set by Dir. 
of Eng. Services 

 
Hydrant Meter Deposit - Standard Size – The proposed deposit amount of $3,000 
is not a fee for service, but a refundable security deposit intended to cover the potential 
replacement cost of a standard hydrant meter. While the current market value of the 
meter may be less than the deposit amount, prices are subject to fluctuation due to 
supply chain variability and inflation. The deposit ensures that the District can recover 
its costs if a meter is lost or damaged. Because this is a refundable deposit, not a 
charge for a specific service, it is not subject to the fee limitations outlined in California 
Government Code Section 66014(a), which applies to service fees. Upon return of the 
meter in usable condition, the full deposit is refunded, ensuring fairness and 
compliance with applicable law. 
 
Plan Review Deposits – The District collects deposits for three types of development 
plan review - Single Unit Plan Review, Minor Subdivision (2 to 4 units) and Major 
Subdivisions (5+ units). The deposit is set at the approximate amount needed to cover 
staff time spent reviewing the plan, which obviously varies with the size of the 
development. The current deposit amount reflects the costs from the previous study, 
as inflated by CPI each year. The proposed deposit amounts reflect the estimated 
time, multiplied by staff’s current fully burdened hourly rate, rounded up to the nearest 
$100. If the actual costs incurred are less than the deposit collected, the excess is 
returned to the owner. If actual costs look to be higher than the deposit, additional 
deposit monies will be requested. 
 
Staff are proposing the addition of 3 new fees as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

FEE NAME PROPOSED FEE 

Lien Process:  

1st Notice $12 

2nd Notice $12 

Filing Fee $78 



7 

 

 
Updated Lien Process: Lien Notice, 1st – Under California Government Code 
§43008 and Water Code §25806, the District must notify customers that a lien will be 
filed with the county for unpaid water bills. A lien typically follows 30–60 days of non-
payment, after which a final demand notice is issued. This notice establishes the 
District’s legal claim against the property, enforceable through the property tax roll. 
Staff recommend a fee of $12.00 to cover staff’s time to process and deliver this 
notice.  
 
Updated Lien Process: Lien Notice, 2nd – This fee recovers the cost of providing 
the customer with the second and final intent to lien notice, as required by law. As 
mentioned above, staff recommend a fee of $12.00. 
 
Updated Lien Process: Lien Filing Fee – To recover the full cost of processing and 
recording property liens for unpaid water bills, including staff time for preparing 
documentation and coordinating with the county, staff recommends a fee of $78, 
which reflects both administrative labor and the typical county recorder’s filing 
charges. 

 
Staff are proposing the deletion of 8 fees as follows: 
 

Water Account Deposit – SB 998 significantly reshaped how water agencies 
manage delinquent accounts by limiting the use of water shutoffs as a collection tool. 
In response, many agencies, including San Juan Water District, have transitioned to 
alternative methods such as property tax lien roll collections. With the successful 
implementation of this process, and the District’s move away from service shutoffs, 
the need for requiring water account deposits, particularly from tenants or customers 
with poor payment history, has been eliminated. 
 
Property Lien Fee – In accordance with SB 998, which limits the use of water shutoffs 
for nonpayment, the District has adopted the property tax lien roll process as a primary 
tool for recovering long-term unpaid balances. Initially, a Property Lien Fee was 
proposed to recover staff time associated with preparing and filing these liens. 
However, this fee has since been superseded by the Lien Filing Fee, which is now 
directly assessed to the customer when their delinquent account is transferred to the 
county’s tax lien roll. 
 
Hydrant Meter Deposit < 2-inch Fee – The District no longer rents out hydrant 
meters smaller than 2 inches. As a result, the associated fee is no longer applicable 
and has been removed from the fee schedule. 
  
Single Unit Construction Inspection Minimum Fee – Originally established to cover 
the inspection costs associated with a single residential unit. Over time, however, the 
District began collecting the New Service Inspection & Activation Fee, which already 
includes both the inspection and meter activation time.  
 
In the past five years, there have been no projects where the original Single Unit 
Construction Inspection Minimum Fee would have applied. This is because all 
development projects are now required to submit a time and materials deposit to cover 



8 

 

engineering and inspection costs. As a result, the use of a standard, flat inspection 
fee has become obsolete. Based on this determination, staff recommend deleting this 
fee.  
 
Fire System Design Review Fee – This fee was originally implemented to 
compensate the Engineering Department for reviewing fire sprinkler system designs. 
However, it was later determined that the District does not have the authority to 
approve these designs, as that responsibility lies with the jurisdictional fire department. 
As a result, the fee was deemed inappropriate and should be removed from the 
District’s fee schedule. 
 
Hydrant Flow Test Fee – The original fee was established to cover the cost of SJWD 
personnel conducting on-site hydrant flow and pressure tests. These tests are no 
longer performed, as the District now provides Flow and Pressure Reports generated 
from its hydraulic model, eliminating the need for field testing. Given this operational 
change, the fee should be removed from the District’s schedule.  
 
Hydrostatic Testing Minimum Fee – This fee was originally established to cover the 
time spent by District operations staff to perform hydrostatic (pressure) tests on 
pipelines. However, pressure testing is the responsibility of the developer or their 
contractor, not the District. As such, the District does not anticipate any scenario in 
which it would be responsible for conducting these tests. This fee is no longer 
applicable and should be removed.  
 
Bacteriological Testing Minimum Fee – This fee was originally established to cover 
District Operations staff time for performing bacteriological testing. However, as with 
the Hydrostatic Testing Minimum Fee, this type of testing is the responsibility of the 
developer or their contractor, not the District. The District does not anticipate any 
scenario in which it would be responsible for conducting these tests. The fee should 
be removed.  
 

Conclusion: 
These adjustments will result in increases to 26 fees, penalties or deposits, the addition 
of 6 fees and the elimination of 10 fees. The proposed fee adjustments are not intended 
to generate profit but to ensure that costs associated with specific services are borne by 
the users of those services, rather than subsidized by the general ratepayer base. By 
aligning fees with actual service costs, the District reduces hidden subsidies and protects 
ratepayers from future rate increases. This approach promotes fiscal responsibility, 
fairness, and transparency.  
 
Staff recommend continuing to adjust the fee schedule annually based on the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI) and conducting a comprehensive fee study at least once every five 
years. 
 
Attachments: 
Resolution 25-14 
User Fee Study – San Juan Water District, prepared by MGT Consulting Group 



9 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-14 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT 

APPROVING CHANGES TO THE SCHEDULE OF FEES, CHARGES, AND DEPOSITS 
BASED ON THE 2025 USER FEE STUDY 

 
WHEREAS, the District also assesses a variety of user fees, charges, and deposits 

outside the scope of the Financial Plan and Rate Study to recover costs associated with services 
that benefit individual users or deter undesirable activities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District engaged MGT Impact Solutions to update the User Fee Study in 

2025 using the fiscal year 2024–2025 operating budget, staffing, and operational processes; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board has received and considered the 2025 User Fee Study Report 

prepared by MGT Impact Solutions dated September 4, 2025 (the “User Fee Study”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the updated User Fee Study utilized a cost-of-service methodology to ensure 

fees reflect the cost of providing services, in compliance with California Government Code Section 
66014(a) and Proposition 26; and 

 
WHEREAS, the updated study recommends revising existing fees, introducing new fees, 

and eliminating outdated fees to better align with the District’s cost recovery objectives and 
operational needs; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors finds that the proposed Schedule of Fees, Charges, 

and Deposits is fair, reasonable, and necessary to ensure fiscal responsibility and equity among 
ratepayers; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of San Juan Water 
District as follows: 

1. The Board hereby approves and adopts the Schedule of Fees, Charges, and 
Deposits as presented in the 2025 User Fee Study prepared by MGT Impact 
Solutions. 

2. Staff are hereby directed to inflate the fees each year by the November over 
November Consumer Price Index West Cities B, except those fees limited by 
statute. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the San Juan Water District on the 

17th day of September 2025, by the following vote: 
 
 AYES:  DIRECTORS: 
 NOES:  DIRECTORS: 
 ABSENT: DIRECTORS:  
 

             
       EDWARD J. “TED” COSTA 
       President, Board of Directors 
ATTEST 
     
TERI GRANT 
Secretary, Board of Directors 



  
 

  
 

User Fee Study  
Report of Findings  

San Juan Water District  

SEPTEMBER 4, 2025 
 

MGT.us 



 

  MGT.US 

 

SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT 
USER FEE STUDY 
SEPTEMBER 4, 2025 
  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................ 1 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS ............................................................................................. 2 

ANALYSIS HIGHLIGHTS .............................................................................................. 6 

LATE PAYMENT FEE .................................................................................................... 7 

EXTERNAL OVERHEAD RATE ....................................................................................... 9 

APPENDIX A - USER FEE STUDY RESULTS ................................................................. 10 

APPENDIX B – INDIRECT COST RATE ........................................................................ 12 
 

  



 

   
PAGE 1 

 

Executive Summary 
Introduction 
MGT Impact Solutions (MGT) is pleased to present the San Juan Water District (District) with this 
summary of findings for the recently completed user fee study. 

In 2019 the District contracted with MGT to perform a user fee study using fiscal year 2019-2020 
budget, staffing and operational information. This study is an update of the 2019 study using the 
District’s fiscal year 2024-2025 budget, staffing, and updated operational processes. As part of 
this study, the District has made changes to its fee schedule to more accurately reflect its 
processes and improve transparency.   

This report is the culmination of an extensive study conducted by MGT in collaboration with the 
District’s management and staff. MGT would like to take this opportunity to gratefully 
acknowledge all staff who participated in this project for their efforts and coordination. Their 
responsiveness and continued interest in the outcome of this study contributed greatly to its 
success.  

Study Scope and Objectives 
The study was performed under the general direction of the Director of Finance and Human 
Resources with significant participation from the Senior Accountant and representatives from 
operations staff from the Customer Services, Field Services, and Engineering groups.  

This study included the review of user fees services within the District’s Retail Water function. 
 
The primary goals of the study were to: 

 Determine the District’s costs to provide specific fee-related services. 

 Determine whether there are any opportunities to consolidate and simplify the fee 
structure or implement new fees as appropriate. 

 Identify service areas where the District might adjust fees to better reflect the full cost of 
services or to subsidize fees with non-rate revenues to reflect other economic or policy 
considerations.  

 Develop revenue projections based on recommended cost recovery. 

The information summarized in this report addresses each of these issues and provides the 
District with the tools necessary to make informed decisions about any proposed fee 
adjustments and the resulting impact on District’s revenues.  

In addition to the primary objectives of this study, MGT also reviewed two other areas of the 
District’s fees. MGT performed a comparison analysis of the District’s Wholesale Late Fee Charge 
and reviewed the District’s External Overhead Rate of 20%. 



 

   
PAGE 2 

 

Summary of Findings 
User Fee Financial Overview 
The study's primary objective was to provide the District’s decision-makers with the basic data 
needed to make informed user fee pricing decisions. This report details the full cost of each 
service for which a user fee is charged and presents proposed fees at 100% cost recovery levels.  

At 100% cost recovery, the fees would cover all labor and indirect costs associated with providing 
each service. If a fee is set below 100% full cost recovery the cost to provide the service would 
be subsidized through other funding sources such as cell tower lease revenue, interest income, 
or property tax revenues.   

The exhibit below shows the annual costs and revenues for the District’s user fees that were part 
of this analysis. MGT based the annual cost on the full cost for each fee analyzed multiplied by 
the annual volume statistics provided. The results are shown in Exhibit 1 below: 

Exhibit 1 User Fee Study Results 

 
 

The data in each column includes: 

 Column A, User Fee Costs – This column represents what it costs to provide the annual 
user fee services. In total, this study identified $308,702 total costs to provide retail user 
fee services. It is this amount that is the focus of this study and represents the total 
potential for user fee-related revenues for the District.  

 Column B, Current Revenues – This column represents what the District is currently 
recovering in revenue for these same services based on the average volumes. Based on 
current fees, the District receives fee-related cost recovery revenue equals $269,374 
which is an overall 87% cost recovery level. The cost recovery details of individual fees 
may be found in Appendix A of this report.  

 Column C, Current Subsidy – This column shows the difference between what it costs 
the District to provide services versus what is being recovered in revenue for these same 
services. Current fee levels recover 87% of full cost, leaving 13% or $39,328 as 
unrecovered cost. This difference is being subsidized by other funding sources such as 
the retail customers’ water billings. This subsidy represents an opportunity for an updated 
and more focused cost recovery effort by the District for fee-related services.  

 



 

   
PAGE 3 

 

Methodology 
A cost-of-service (user fee) study comprises two basic elements: 

 Hourly rates of staff providing the service. 

 Time spent providing the service. 

The product of the hourly rate calculation multiplied by the time spent yields the cost of providing 
the service. 

In California Government Code Section 66014(a), local agencies may charge a fee for certain 
services that is determined to be an “estimated reasonable cost of providing a service.” The term 
“reasonable” in this context implies that the cost estimate should be based on objective, 
supportable, official agency financial data. MGT’s methodology is in line with this legislation and 
is explained in further detail below.   

Hourly Rates 
The hourly rate methodology used in this study builds indirect costs into District staff hourly 
salary and benefit rates to arrive at fully burdened hourly rates. Fully burdened hourly rates are a 
mechanism used to calculate the total cost of providing services. Total cost is generally 
recognized as the sum of the direct cost together with a proportionate share of allowable indirect 
costs. The proper identification of all costs (including labor, operating expense, department 
administration and districtwide support) as “direct” or “indirect” is crucial to the determination of 
the total cost of providing services. 

Direct costs are typically defined as those that can be identified specifically to a particular 
function or activity, including the labor of people working directly on the specific service for which 
the fee is charged, and possibly materials or supplies those people use for the task. Indirect costs 
are those that support more than one program area and are not easily identifiable to specific 
activities. Examples of indirect costs are: 1) departmental administrative and support staff, 2) 
training and education time, 3) public counter and telephone time, and 4) some service and supply 
costs. 

MGT’s hourly rate calculation methodology includes the following: 

Personnel Services Analysis – each staff classification within the District is analyzed in the study. 
The first burden factor is comprised of compensated absences such as vacation/holidays/sick 
leave days taken in a year’s time. Staff classifications are then categorized as either direct 
(operational) or indirect (administrative or supervisory) labor. In some cases, a classification will 
have both direct and indirect duties. The total indirect portion of staff cost is incorporated into 
hourly overhead rates. 

Indirect Cost Rate – a ratio of indirect cost to direct labor (salaries plus benefits) is established. 
There are three elements of indirect cost incorporated, including: 

 Indirect Labor – includes compensated absences, administrative and supervisory staff 
costs. 

 Other Operating Expenses – most services and supplies are included as a second layer 
of indirect cost and are prorated across all fees and services. There are some service and 
supply expenses classified as “allowable direct.” Some examples of these are 



 

   
PAGE 4 

 

professional services expenses, or supplies. These allowable direct expenses would be 
directly associated with specific fees or programs, as opposed to being allocated across 
all activities through the indirect overhead.  

Fully Burdened Hourly Rates – incorporates all the elements that comprise the hourly rates used 
in this cost analysis. 

 Each direct or operational staff classification is listed, together with the average annual 
salary and benefits. 

 The hourly salary and benefit rate is calculated by taking the annual salary and benefits of 
an employee and dividing by available hours in a year. 

 The overhead rate is derived by multiplying the internal and external indirect cost rates 
against the salary and benefit rates. 

The total combines the salary, benefits, and overhead rates. This is the fully burdened rate for 
each staff classification. MGT prepared indirect overhead rates and corresponding hourly rate 
calculations using fiscal year 2025 budgeted expenditures.  

Time Spent 
Once fully burdened hourly rates were developed for District staff, the next step was to identify 
staff time spent directly on each user fee activity. Each staff person involved in the user fee 
services identified estimated time spent to complete each task associated with each user fee 
service.  

Fee Calculations and Revenue Projections 
Given this information, MGT was able to calculate the cost of providing each service, both on a 
per‐unit and total annual basis (per‐unit cost multiplied by annual volume equals total annual 
cost). As mentioned above, costs were calculated by multiplying per‐unit time estimates by the 
hourly labor rates; additional operating expenses directly associated with certain services were 
also added in. Finally, if other departments or divisions provided support to certain user fee 
activities, this time was accounted for and added into the analysis as a crossover support activity. 
Full costs are then compared to current fees/revenues collected, and subsidies (or over‐
recoveries) are identified.  

User fee cost details and summary by department are provided in Appendix A. 

  



 

   
PAGE 5 

 

Economic & Policy Considerations 

Calculating the true cost of providing District services is a critical step in establishing user fees 
and corresponding cost recovery levels. Although it is a principal factor, other factors must also 
be given consideration. Decision-makers must also consider the effects that establishing fees for 
services will have on the individuals purchasing those services, and the community.  

The following economic and policy issues help illustrate these considerations. 

 Legal Restrictions – In California, user fees are limited to the “estimated reasonable cost 
of providing a service” by Government Code Section 66014(a) and other supplementary 
legislation. California voters approved Proposition 26 in November of 2010, which defined 
“taxes” as “a levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by a local government” subject 
to seven exceptions. Most of the exceptions require that the District charge a fee which 
does not exceed the reasonable cost to the District to provide the service for which the 
fee is charged. Thus, if the fee exceeds the reasonable cost of service, it may be 
considered a “tax” which must be approved by the voters. MGT has calculated each fee 
to recover no more than the reasonable cost of each service so that none of the fee 
adjustments recommended herein will be considered taxes under Proposition 26. 
Additionally, it should be noted that some fees might be capped by state law and might 
not change, regardless of any cost analysis carried out. 

 Economic barriers - It may be a desired policy to establish fees at a level that permits 
lower income groups to use services that they might not otherwise be able to afford. 

 Community benefit – The District Management may wish to subsidize some user fees to 
reflect policy considerations which supersede cost recovery. For example, many 
Community Services fees have very moderate cost recovery levels. Some programs are 
provided free of charge or for a minimal fee regardless of cost. Youth and senior programs 
tend to have the lowest recovery levels. Miscellaneous classes tend to have a moderate 
cost recovery level and adult sports programs typically have higher cost recovery level.  

 Private benefit - If a user fee primarily benefits the fee payer, the fee is typically set at, or 
close to 100% full cost recovery. Retail related fees generally fall into this category; 
however, exceptions are sometimes made for some services such as appeal fees or fees 
charges exclusively to residential applicants.  

 Managing demand – For those fees which are not subject to pure cost recovery 
limitations, other market considerations may inform recommended fee levels. Elasticity 
of demand is a factor in pricing certain District services as increasing the price of some 
services may result in a reduction of demand for those services.  

 Competition – Certain services, such as recreation classes, may be provided by 
neighboring communities or the private sector, and therefore demand for these services 
can be highly dependent on what else may be available at lower prices. Furthermore, if the 
District’s fees are too low, demand enjoyed by private-sector competitors could be 
adversely affected.  

 Incentives - Fees can be set low to encourage participation in a service, such as obtaining 
proper inspections. 

 Disincentives - Penalties can be instituted to discourage undesirable behavior. Examples 
include late payment fees and fines for water efficiency violations or unauthorized 
connections. 

 



 

   
PAGE 6 

 

Analysis Highlights 
Below is a brief discussion of the findings for the District’s analysis. Please see the user fee 
summary sheets in Appendix A of this report for the details on each fee calculation and cost 
analysis. 

Fees are charged in a variety of ways including fixed fee, per square foot or linear foot, hourly or 
time and materials, actual costs, and other increments. This study primarily focused on fixed fee 
services. This District has two fees that are set using time and materials and commercial rates 
which are the “Damages Pertaining to Unauthorized Connections” and “Hydrant Water Use,” 
respectively.  

Also, the District’s fee schedule has several deposits for services. MGT used the fixed fee 
methodology when calculating the costs related to these deposits; however, the District can set 
its deposits at a reasonable level in order to cover all potential costs related to the services; 
therefore, deposits can be set at a level that is higher or lower than what was calculated during 
the analysis.  

Retail User Fees 
The District is a community services district established by a vote of citizens in 1954, formed 
under Section 61000 et seq., Title 6, Division 3 of the California Government Code Water Code, 
Section 3000. The District provides reliable, high-quality water service to both retail and wholesale 
customers in eastern Sacramento and southern Placer counties.  

To consolidate and streamline the District’s fee schedule, and in collaboration with District 
management, MGT is recommending several fees be removed from the District’s retail fee 
schedule. These changes are due to the services no longer being provided or due to an alternative 
method for assessing the fee being proposed. This is highlighted by the District’s property lien 
fee. Previously, the District’s fee schedule had one fee related to property liens; however, an 
updated fee structure has been proposed separating one fee into three separate fees, providing 
the customer an opportunity to pay less fees should they pay their delinquent bill before the 
District submits it to the county for inclusion on their property tax bill. Also, the District is removing 
the separate charges for retail and wholesale late payment fees and consolidating these fees into 
one. This topic will be discussed further in the Late Payment Fee section below. The identification 
of proposed changes being made to the District’s fee schedule can be found in Appendix A.  

MGT recommends a full cost of service study be performed every three years, but no longer than 
every 5 years. Between these cost studies, MGT recommends for agencies to have minor 
adjustments in the non-study years to keep pace with economic impacts. The District is already 
performing an annual CPI adjustment for certain fees and should continue this practice.  



 

   
PAGE 7 

 

Late Payment Fee  
Historically, the District has had two different late payment fees, one for retail customers and one 
for wholesale customers. Within the District’s Schedule of Rates, Fees, Charges and Deposits for 
calendar year 2025, the retail late payment is set to $28 per occurrence while the wholesale is set 
to 10% of past due balance plus 1% per month on delinquent balance until paid in full. The $28 
charge for retail accounts incorporates the delivery fee for impending disconnection due to non-
payment determined by external shipping vendors and the administrative time needed to issue 
late payment notifications while the wholesale fee was set based on California Government Code 
61115 (a)(3)(c). This code states the following, “To provide for a basic penalty for the 
nonpayment of charges of not more than 10 percent, plus an additional penalty of not more than 
1 percent per month for the nonpayment of the charges and the basic penalty. The board of 
directors may provide for the collection of these penalties.” 
 
Since the District is no longer utilizing disconnection to collect unpaid utility bills on a regular 
basis, the $28 per occurrence late fee is no longer supported.  Utilization of the lien process to 
collect unpaid utility bills results in a longer time lag between billing and collection and a lost 
opportunity to collect interest income on utility bill revenues.  Therefore, to incentivize timely 
payment, and offset lost interest revenue, it would be appropriate to consolidate the retail and 
wholesale fees and use the current wholesale penalty of 10% of past due balance plus 1% per 
month on delinquent balance until paid in full.  
 
This unified approach simplifies administration, aligns with legal requirements, ensures that 
ratepayers who pay their bills on time are not injured by those that do not, and ensures consistent 
treatment across all customer classes.  
 
MGT also compared the penalty to other local agencies that provide water services. The table 
below displays MGT’s findings.  
 

Exhibit 2 – Late Payment Fee Comparisons 
Agency Late Fee Lien Process In Place 

San Juan Water District  10% of past due balance + 
1% per month on delinquent 

balance 

Yes 

Carmichael Water District $10 per occurrence No 

Citrus Heights Water District 5% of past due balance Yes 

City of Folsom 1.5% per month on 
delinquent balance (not 

currently charging) 

Yes 

Fair Oaks Water District 10% of past due balance In process 

Orange Vale Water Company 10% of past due balance No 

Placer County Water Agency 6% of past due balance No 

Sacramento Suburban Water 
District 

10% of past due balance Yes 

 
As shown above, the District’s current wholesale late payment penalty is directly comparable to 
three of the seven peers, except for an additional 1% per month. Orange Vale and Citrus Heights 



 

   
PAGE 8 

 

Water Districts are a few percent lower while Carmichael Water District and City of Folsom are 
outliers. MGT recommends the District set its late payment penalty to 10% of past due balance 
plus 1% per month on delinquent balance. Maintaining this fee keeps the District within the legal 
limit and will continue to provide a valuable deterrent from late payments as the District heavily 
relies on timely payments for maintaining appropriate cash flow for all operations.  
 



 

   
PAGE 9 

 

External Overhead Rate 
During the study MGT was asked to evaluate the District’s 20% overhead rate that is charged on 
all external work such as use of an outside contractor or purchasing materials for a third-party. 
The goal of this evaluation was to determine if 20% is still an appropriate rate. Upon review of the 
staff efforts involved with external contracts, it was determined that the current 20% charge 
covers more than just the portion of staff effort associated with the request and obtaining the 
contracts. In an effort for simplifying and create a more transparent fee, it was determined that 
changing from a percentage base fee to a flat fee would be the most appropriate option.  
 
MGT, with the guidance of District management, determined that establishing two different 
administrative fees, one for “Purchase of Supplies” and one for “Contract Management” would be 
the most appropriate for the District’s needs. These two administrative fees were calculated 
using the same methodology as described above for the retail user fees. With management’s 
assistance, MGT determined that staff efforts associated with the Administrative Fee – Purchase 
of Supplies equate to approximately $115 per transaction and efforts associated with the 
Administrative Fee – Contract Management equate to approximately $181 per transaction. MGT 
recommends the District apply these flat rates for each applicable transaction for all external 
requests.



  

 

  PAGE 10 

 

Appendix A - User Fee Study Results 

 

 



 

   
PAGE 11 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note: Deposits vary based on the type of project. Deposit amount is determined by Director of Engineering Services.  



  

 

  PAGE 12 

Appendix B – Indirect Cost Rate 

 



SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT

User Fee Study

SEPTEMBER 2025



2

AGENDA

Introductions 

Scope of Services

Methodology & Approach

Summary of Findings

Late Payment Fee

External Overhead Rate



3

NATIONALLY-RECOGNIZED. LOCALLY-FOCUSED.
Accelerating Social Impact and Improving Performance

Technology, finance, human 
capital, performance & 

education solutions in one 
provider

1,200+ staff 
across the US 

Performance & 
social impact 

leader for State, 
Local 

Government & 
Education (SLED)

Past partnerships 
on more than 30,000 

engagements 



4

Secondary Objectives:

• Review the District’s late payment fee

• Review the District’s external overhead rate

Primary Objectives:

• Determine the District’s costs to provide specific fee-related services. 

• Identify any opportunities to simplify the fee structure or implement new fees as appropriate.

• Identify areas for the District to reflect full cost of providing services.

• Develop revenue projections based on recommended cost recovery.

Scope of Service



5

User Fee – A charge for a specific service paid by the individual(s) that benefit from it. 

Full Cost Recovery – Covering 100% of the cost of providing the service, this includes staff costs, 

direct costs and materials, and indirect costs.

Disincentives – Penalties or fines that are instituted to discourage undesirable behavior.

Definit ions  



6

Defined objectives, assembled team, gathered key documents.Scope & Planning

Current fee schedules & volumes; FY25 budgets; FY 26 salaries/benefits & FTEsData Collection

Rate Development

Time Estimation

Compute fully burdened hourly rates (direct labor + dept. indirect + external overhead).

Staff time spent per fee activity × volumes to calculate per-unit & annual costs

User Fee Modeling Compare full cost vs. current revenue, identify current subsidies & propose full cost recovery

Legal & Policy Lens Prop 26 compliance; community vs. private benefit; demand elasticity; competition; incentives

Implementation 100% cost recovery on user fees, adjustments to deposits, admin overhead, and late payments

Project Methodology & Approach

E v i d e n c e - b a s e d  m e t h o d o l o g y  a l i g n e d  w i t h  C a l i f o r n i a  s t a n d a r d s



7

MGT analysis shows SJWD recovers 87% of costs today vs. 100% under recommended cost recovery for user 

fees.

Executive Summary of Findings

C o s t  R e c o v e r y  

At a Glance

Current Revenue 87%

Policy Target 100%

Recovery Lift +13 pts

Estimated Added 
Revenue

$40k

Current

Recovered Subsidy

Policy Target

Recovered Subsidy

Suggested Fee Structure Changes: 
- Remove 5 fees
- Adjust lien process fees, late payment fee, and administrative overhead fees



8

Legal Restrictions: California Government Code 61115 (a)(3)(c) – “… not more than 10%, plus an additional penalty of not 

more than 1% per month for the nonpayment of the charges and the basic penalty.”

MGT Recommendation – Set all customer late payments to 10% of past due balances + 1% per month of delinquent balance.

Late Payment Fee  

Agency Late Fee Lien Process In Place
San Juan Water District 10% of past due balance + 1% per month 

on delinquent balance
Yes

Carmichael Water District $10 per occurrence No
Citrus Heights Water District 5% of past due balance Yes

City of Folsom 1.5% per month on delinquent balance 
(not currently charging)

Yes

Fair Oaks Water District 10% of past due balance In process
Orange Vale Water Company 10% of past due balance No
Placer County Water Agency 6% of past due balance No

Sacramento Suburban Water District 10% of past due balance Yes



9

Current external overhead rate is 20%. To provide customers a more transparent fee, 

it is recommended the District establish two administrative fees: Purchase of 

Supplies and Contract Management. 

These fees have been calculated in a manner consistent with the District’s user fees.

Recommended Fees:

- Administrative Fee – Purchase of Supplies - $115 

- Administrative Fee – Contract Management - $181

External  Overhead Rate   



Thank you

















































































https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=AccountsPayable/PayableEntry&$filter=Id%20eq%2000000000-0000-0000-0000-000000000000
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=ProjectManagerForm&$filter=Id%20eq%20c0bf577d-38c8-4ddc-87ab-a7a700f83ead
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=ProjectManagerForm&$filter=Id%20eq%20d12b8a0d-fae4-4cf6-872d-abe600da5ca6
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=ProjectManagerForm&$filter=Id%20eq%2040c8c6db-5677-4576-8045-b05100a275b5
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=ProjectManagerForm&$filter=Id%20eq%20015fca67-ea2c-4027-abad-b30d00ed3015
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=ProjectManagerForm&$filter=Id%20eq%20d4aeffeb-3a5d-40f6-a511-b30d00f00bba














https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=Employee%20Manager%20Form&$filter=EmployeeId%20eq%200c3b71b2-1cc9-4f94-9ca3-05b48f97f111
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=Employee%20Manager%20Form&$filter=EmployeeId%20eq%201c8d1372-50b2-48af-ae70-b26000a3e59e
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=Employee%20Manager%20Form&$filter=EmployeeId%20eq%2027a9e5e1-718c-4f43-84ec-a419008324c7
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=Employee%20Manager%20Form&$filter=EmployeeId%20eq%205298ba59-2c65-490c-b0f8-c8eb76532351
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=Employee%20Manager%20Form&$filter=EmployeeId%20eq%20d31dae15-b095-4f04-a7b4-ae4d006e9cb4


https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20b4da8be0-7f2e-4e78-6cb5-6d43247baa90
https://incode.tylerhost.net/sanjuanwaterdistrictca/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%208c629500-9466-2df8-a72f-9e0c3e1965f8




















mailto:JuliaH@acwa.com








https://trailerbill.dof.ca.gov/public/trailerBill/pdf/1266
https://trailerbill.dof.ca.gov/public/trailerBill/pdf/1266


mailto:ChelseaH@acwa.com












mailto:JuliaH@acwa.com



























	AGENDA
	I. ROLL CALL
	II. PUBLIC FORUM AND COMMENTS
	III. CONSENT CALENDAR
	1. Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting, August 14, 2025 (W & R)
	2. Minutes of the Board of Directors Special Meeting, August 22, 2025 (W & R)

	IV. DISCUSSION AND ACTION ITEMS
	1. Board of Directors Division 1 Vacancy (W & R)
	2. Amendment to Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting, June 12, 2025 (W & R)
	3. Water Services Replacement Project Construction Contract (R)
	4. Kokila Reservoir Replacement Project – Installment Sale Agreement (R)
	5. Fees, Charges and Deposits – Results of the User Fee Study Update and Proposed Changes to Schedule of Fees, Charges and Deposits (W & R)
	6.  Big Impact on a Small Budget: Grant Strategies for Resource-Strapped Agencies (W & R)
	7. Employee Compensation (W & R)
	8. Board Committees, RWA Board Representatives and SGA Alternate Representative (W & R)
	9. Conjunctive Use and Groundwater Banking Activities Update (W & R)
	8.1 Discuss practicality of having a standard water contract for banking

	V. INFORMATION ITEMS
	1. General Manager’s Report
	1.1 General Manager’s Monthly Report (W & R)
	1.2 Hydrology and Operations Update (W & R)
	1.3 Miscellaneous District Issues and Correspondence

	2. Director of Finance and Human Resources’ Report
	2.1 Miscellaneous District Issues and Correspondence

	3. Director of Operations’ Report
	3.1 Miscellaneous District Issues and Correspondence

	4. Director of Engineering Services’ Report
	4.1 Miscellaneous District Issues and Correspondence

	5. Legal Counsel’s Report
	5.1 Legal Matters


	VI. DIRECTORS’ REPORTS
	1. Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) – T. Costa
	2. Regional Water Authority (RWA) – T. Costa
	3. Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA)
	3.1 ACWA – P. Tobin
	3.2 Joint Powers Insurance Authority (JPIA) – P. Tobin

	4. Other Reports, Correspondence, Comments, Ideas and Suggestions

	VII. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
	1. Requests by Board Members for Agenda Items
	2. Meeting Date Changes and Board Attendance

	VIII. COMMITTEE MEETINGS
	1. Finance Committee – September 9, 2025

	IX. UPCOMING EVENTS
	1. 2025 ACWA Fall Conference

	X. ADJOURN

	ATTACHMENTS
	III-1 Board of Director’s Board Meeting Minutes August 14, 2025
	III-2 Board of Director’s Special Minutes August 22, 2025
	IV-1 Board of Directors Division 1 Vacancy
	IV-2 Amendment to Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting, June 12, 2025
	IV-3 Construction Contract for Water Services Replacement Project; Hidden Lakes Subdivisions 1 & 2 and Granite Bay Shopping Center
	IV-4 Kokila Reservoir Replacement – Installment Sale Agreement
	IV-5 Fees, Charges and Deposits – Results of Updated User Fee Study and Recommended User Fee Changes
	IV-5 Introduce Ordinance No. 25-01 which amends Ordinance 18000.01 and 18000.03 to reflect changes in the Late Fee and Lien Processing Fees
	IV-6 Big Impact on a Small Budget: Grant Strategies for Resource-Strapped Agencies
	IV-7 Employee Compensation
	IV-8 Committee Assignments
	V-1.1 General Manager’s Monthly Report (August)
	V-1.2 Hydrology
	V-1.2 Hydrology
	V-1.3 General Manager Correspondence
	V-1.3 General Manager Correspondence
	V-1.3 General Manager Correspondence
	V-1.3 General Manager Correspondence
	VI-3.1 ACWA
	VI-3.2 ACWA JPIA
	VIII-1 Finance Committee Meeting Minutes




